SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/5/2017 9:33 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

95281-7

No. 50224-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHING STATE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

EVERGREEN FREEDOM FOUNDATION d/b/a FREEDOM FOUNDATION,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Mark C. Lamb, WSBA #30134 The North Creek Law Firm 12900 NE 180th Street, Suite 235 Bothell, WA 98011 (425) 368-4238 Philip A. Talmadge, WSBA #6973 Talmadge/Fitzpatrick/Tribe 2775 Harbor Avenue SW Third Floor, Suite C Seattle, WA 98126 (206) 574-6661

Attorneys for Petitioner Freedom Foundation

ORIGINAL

filed via

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Evergreen Freedom Foundation, d/b/a Freedom Foundation ("Foundation") asks this Court to review the published decision of the Court of Appeals, Division II, set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II issued its published opinion on November 7, 2017. A copy of that opinion is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-30.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Under RCW 42.17A.005(4)/RCW 42.17A.255, do *pro bono* legal services constitute a reportable independent campaign expenditure in connection with local ballot measures that never actually reach the ballot and for which there is no campaign or traditional electioneering?
- 2. If those statutes apply to *pro bono* legal services provided in connection with legal issues relating to measures that never reach the ballot, were the Foundation's First Amendment rights violated both because the statutes are void for vagueness and those statutes improperly intrude upon the Foundation's free speech?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeals opinion largely was correct in its recitation of the facts and procedures here. Op. at 3-4. However, certain facts bear emphasis. It is undisputed that the Foundation provided *pro bono* legal services to residents in three Washington municipalities (Sequim, Shelton, and Chelan) who sought to protect their First Amendment right to petition government through the local initiative process. CP 29.

The general outline of that local initiative process is as follows: petitioners gather a certain number of municipal voter signatures supporting a proposed ordinance; once the petitioner collects enough signatures, that petitioner then submits the signed petitions to the city clerk, who certifies whether the petition has garnered the requisite number of signatures. Upon certification, the city governing bodies (city councils in Sequim and Chelan, a city commission in Shelton) must either enact the petition as a regular city ordinance, or submit it to the voters at the next ballot opportunity as a proposed initiative. *See* RCW 35.17.260.¹

It is further undisputed that in all three cities, the city governing bodies refused to either adopt the petitions or place them on the ballot. Legal efforts to compel placement of the measures on the ballot failed. Accordingly, the propositions never reached the ballot nor did a campaign ever occur. *See* CP 21-22. Rather, the Foundation simply provided *pro bono* legal services in pending legal actions. CP 8-9, 16-17, 21, 22.

Division II's opinion is devoid of the real reason the State of Washington ("State") filed the present action against the Foundation. The

¹ The parties represented *pro bono* by the Foundation all requested that the local legislative bodies either adopt the ordinance or place it on the ballot; the former activity (lobbying a local legislative body) is entirely *unregulated* by RCW 42.17A.

Foundation's union opponents in those jurisdictions filed complaints against the Foundation.² The State, in turn, claimed that the Foundation should have reported the *pro bono* legal services as "independent expenditures," even though the respective city governing bodies and unions succeeded in court in preventing the Foundation's clients' petitions from ever becoming actual ballot propositions upon which the voters could act. Although the State sued the Foundation, CP 5-10, it never took action against the unions that also provided *pro bono* litigation support for the various municipalities in the cases referenced above.³ The trial court

² The State asserted below in its brief at 9 that its enforcement action was prompted by a "citizen complaint." The complaint was filed by legal counsel for an entity called the Committee for Transparency in Elections, an organization fronting for unions who are allies of the Foundation's opponents in the local initiative fights. CP 64-71. The Public Disclosure Commission ("PDC") filing for this committee is exceedingly sketchy as to its membership or financial support. There is considerable irony in the fact that the complaint by this committee against the Foundation was filed in February 2015, but its own PDC reports show no expenses until August and then November of that same year. Essentially, the work this "transparency" committee put into filing the complaint was never reported to the public.

In Chelan, the Washington Council of County and City Employees Local Union 846 (AFL-CIO) appeared; in Shelton, the International Association of Machinists & Aerospace Works, Woodworkers local lodge W-38 participated; in Sequim, it was International Brotherhood of Teamsters, Local 589. All unions were represented by the law firm of Reid, McCarthy, Ballew & Leahy, LLP. CP 29.

³ The State justifies its failure to take action against the unions for the very same conduct in the very same cases by claiming that it prosecutes misconduct by entities of all political stripes and contending that no other "citizen complaints" were made in connection with these local ballot campaigns and the expenditures in them. Br. of Appellant at 10, 34-35. The State's arguments are self-serving and flatly misrepresent the PDC's and the Attorney General's broad authority to investigate and prosecute campaign finance reporting violations. *Nothing* in law required a "citizen complaint" before either agency could act. Under WAC 390-37-020, the PDC could act on its own; RCW 42.17A.755 confers explicit authority upon the Commission to investigate and punish RCW 42.17A violations. Moreover, RCW 42.17A.765 confers authority upon the Attorney General to

dismissed the State's action, CP 102-03, and described its rationale for its decision. See Appendix.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED⁴

(1) Introduction

This case addresses whether the Foundation's provision of legal *pro bono* services in connection with litigation on whether certain local ballot measures could even reach the ballot constituted "independent expenditures" under RCW 42.17A.005(4)/RCW 42.17A.255(1) that must be reported to the PDC. Those statutes relate only to expenditures made in connection with actual "electioneering," if they are to be constitutional.

This case involves a straightforward question of statutory interpretation, a matter of first impression for this Court as to the statutes at issue.⁵ However, the State has a bias against the Foundation, ignoring the

investigate RCW 42.17A violations and to file civil enforcement actions in court. The State was not powerless to act against the Foundation's opponents here; it made a conscious choice to prosecute only the Foundation even though *pro bono* legal services were provided on the other side of the very same case.

⁴ This Court is fully familiar with the criteria in RAP 13.4(b) governing review.

⁵ This Court often grants review on issues of first impression. See, e.g., Tabingo v. American Triumph, LLC, 188 Wn.2d 41, 391 P.3d 434 (2017) (punitive damages in vessel unseaworthiness claims); In re Guardianship of Lamb, 173 Wn.2d 173, 265 P.3d 876 (2011) (use of guardianship fees for advocacy activities); York v. Wahkiakum Sch. Dist. No. 200, 163 Wn.2d 297, 178 P.3d 995 (2008) (constitutionality of random drug testing of student athletes); King Cty. v. Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd., 142 Wn.2d 543, 14 P.3d 133 (2000) (recreational use of land in areas designated under GMA for agricultural purposes). This is particularly true for statutory interpretation issues of first impression. E.g., Glass v. Stahl Specialty Co., 97 Wn.2d 880, 652 P.2d 948 (1982) (first interpretation of 1981 tort reform legislation); Rental Housing Ass'n of Puget Sound

plain statutory language, and singling out the Foundation for an enforcement action. The State also disregarded the fact that the Foundation's litigation opponents *did the exact same thing as the Foundation in the very same cases*; the State took no action against those unions, undercutting the State's claim of its universal commitment to "transparency."

When objectively evaluated, as the trial court did without the State's political bent,⁷ the plain language of the statutes at issue here makes clear that *pro bono* legal services provided in connection with local ballot measures that never reach the ballot are not independent political campaign contributions.

Adopting the State's interpretation of the statutes, Division II inserted language into those statutes that was never enacted by the Legislature. The trial court noted the statutes were ambiguous. Division II

v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 199 P.3d 393 (2009) (whether a city's response to a public records request was a proper claim of exemption sufficient to trigger the applicable statute of limitations).

⁶ Below, the State trumpeted its commitment to "transparency" in the political process as a basis for overcoming the plain language of RCW 42.17A.005(4)/RCW 42.17A.255(1). Br. of Appellant at 1, 12, 13; reply br. at 1, 15. But that self-righteous assertion is a red herring. The State's theoretical transparency policy is not actually implicated in this case. No elections were conducted. The Foundation's *pro bono* legal services were provided to determine if elections were to be held at all.

 $^{^{7}}$ The trial court had a strong sense that the State's efforts were politically-motivated. RP (5/13/16):7-8.

acknowledged that fact by disregarding statutory language. The statutes are void for vagueness.

Moreover, were the Court to adopt Division II's erroneous interpretation of RCW 42.17A.005(4)/RCW 42.17A.255(1), applying those statutes far afield from actual electioneering, the Foundation's First Amendment rights would be violated. This Court should avoid any constitutional invalidity of the statutes at issue by adhering to the statutes' plain language, as the Foundation advocates. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

(2) <u>Under This Court's Principles of Statutory Interpretation,</u> the Foundation Was Not Obliged to Report *Pro Bono* Legal Services As Independent Expenditures

Division II here acknowledges that it added language to a statute that the Legislature did not enact. Op. at 12-15. That violates this Court's well-understood statutory interpretation protocol.⁸ It is up to the

The core requirement of this Court's statutory interpretation regimen is that courts must execute the intent of the Legislature by implementing the plain language of a statute. Cockle v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 142 Wn.2d 801, 807, 16 P.3d 583 (2001). "If a statute is plain and unambiguous, its meaning must be primarily derived from the language itself." Id. Courts look to the statute as a whole, giving effect to all of its language. Dot Foods, Inc. v. Wash. Dep't of Revenue, 166 Wn.2d 912, 919, 215 P.3d 185 (2009). Courts must look to what the Legislature said in the statute and related statutes to determine if the Legislature's intent is plain. Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 9-10, 43 P.3d 4 (2002). If the language of the statute is plain, that ends the courts' role. Cerrillo v. Esparza, 158 Wn.2d 194, 205-06, 142 P.3d 155 (2006). Division II bends these traditional rules to claim that it may ignore statutory language or avoid what it claims is an "inconsistency" or "strained results." Op. at 9.

Legislature, not the courts, to write the statutes. Courts are not free to rewrite legislative language in the guise of interpreting it.

The plain language of RCW 42.17A.005(4)/RCW 42.17A.255(1) controls, and does not require the Foundation to report *pro bono* legal services as independent expenditures; the *specific language* of the statutes and the attendant definitional provisions in RCW 29A.04.091 and 42.17A.005 make clear that the State's interpretation is unsupported.

First, RCW 42.17A.255(1) itself defines an "independent expenditure" as "any expenditure that is made in support of or in opposition to any candidate *or ballot proposition*…" (emphasis added). The term "ballot proposition" is a legal term of art under RCW 42.17A. RCW 42.17A.005(4) specifically defines a "ballot proposition." *See* Appendix.

By its terms, RCW 42.17A.005(4) requires a "ballot proposition" to be a "measure." That term is further defined in RCW 29A.04.091 which states: "Measure' includes any proposition submitted to the voters." Thus, a measure must actually be one *submitted to the voters* (and the statute contemplates that is to the voters *statewide*, not the voters in a municipality, as here).

The petitions submitted to the cities of Sequim, Shelton, and Chelan were not "ballot propositions" under that aspect of RCW 42.17.005(4) because the petitions submitted to the city councils of Sequim and Chelan

and the city commission of Shelton were not submitted to the voters and were never "measures" as defined in RCW 42.17A.005(4)/RCW 29A.04.091. Because all of the petitions were precluded from reaching the ballot, they were never referred to the voters and, accordingly, never became "measures." RCW 29A.04.091. In other words, as the trial court noted, RP (5/13/16):3-4, submission to the voters is a statutory condition precedent to becoming a "measure" such that the reporting requirements under RCW 42.17A were not and are not applicable where the local ballot questions were never submitted to the voters.

Division II notes the second facet of the definition of ballot proposition in RCW 42.17A.005(4). Op. at 11-16. It states that a local ballot proposition encompasses any local initiative, recall, or referendum *proposed* to be submitted to the voters. But that second facet only applies the definition "from and after the time when the proposition has been initially filed with the appropriate election officer of that constituency before its circulation for signatures."

The petitions were not "ballot propositions" under RCW 42.17A.005(4) because the signatures for a local ballot initiative are gathered *prior* to submission to the local official, making the statute at the

heart of the State's complaint clearly inapplicable to the facts of this case. None of the state-wide measure procedures apply to the local initiative process. See RCW 35.17.240-360. Those procedures require initial submission to the State prior to circulation of petitions for signatures. By contrast, for local ballot measures, signatures are gathered to support an ordinance petition before it is submitted to a local official. Following the submission of the signatures on the petition, upon confirmation of the sufficiency of signatures, the petition is referred to the city governing body which may then either adopt the proposal as an ordinance or refer the petition to the citizens at an election. See RCW 35.17.260. Because a "ballot proposition" is defined under RCW 42.17A.005(4) as an issue which is submitted to the secretary of state prior to the gathering of signatures

⁹ By contrast, state ballot initiatives follow the procedures described in RCW 29A.72: filing of a proposed question with the state election official (RCW 29A.72.010), assignment of a proposition number (RCW 29A.72.040), and development of a ballot title (RCW 29A.72.050-090), followed by circulation of petitions for signature (RCW 29A.72.100-250). The statutory definition of "ballot proposition" in RCW 42.17A.005(4) fits within this statewide initiative framework, wherein a "ballot proposition" may circulate for signatures only after the state code reviser has certified review and provided suggested revisions to the sponsor, after the Secretary of State gives the proposed measure a serial number, after the Attorney General creates a ballot title, after interested parties have disputed and adjudicated the ballot title, but before the sponsor/petitioner begins gathering signatures. Accord RCW 42.17A.005(4) with RCW 29A.72.010 et seq.

The statutes governing the power of local initiative vary slightly depending upon whether the local jurisdiction is a non-charter code city, a commission city, a first class city or a charter country. *See* RCW 35.17.240-35.17.360; RCW 35A.11.100. However, in all cases, signatures were gathered on petitions *prior* to submission to the local official responsible under the statute for receiving and processing local initiatives.

(RCW 29A.72.010), the local initiative can never qualify as a "proposition." Because there was never a "ballot proposition" as defined in RCW 42.17A.255(1), independent campaign expenditures reporting is not triggered. Only when the petition is submitted to the voters does it become a "measure" under RCW 29A.04.091. That is the plain language of the statute. Instead, the Court of Appeals disregarded these very different procedures to invoke reporting requirements that were never intended to apply to the facts here.

Moreover, *pro bono* legal services are not an independent political campaign expenditure in the absence of any political campaign. They are *pro bono* legal services offered in connection with matters in litigation. Rather than follow the language of the statute that contemplated reporting of electioneering expenses as independent expenditures, Division II made a *normative decision* as to what is or is not a reasonable decision by the Legislature. Op. at 11-16.¹¹ It decided that the statutes must apply to all independent expenditures in local ballot cases and then worked backward to fulfill its objective. In doing so, Division II effectively rewrote RCW

¹¹ It is equally "reasonable" that the Legislature declined to apply RCW 42.17A to expenditures made on local measures that never reached the ballot, given the fact that such measures might be enacted by local legislative bodies and lobbying of those bodies is *unregulated*, and the constitutional imperative that independent expenditure reporting is confined to electioneering.

42.17A.005(4)/.255(1), something this Court does not permit.¹²

The Foundation's interpretation of RCW 42.17A.255(1) is further reinforced by the statute itself, the PDC's own interpretation of it, and constitutional mandates that statutes on independent expenditures focus on actual electioneering. RCW 42.17A.255(2-3) make clear that expenditures must relate to a *campaign*, i.e. electioneering. Part (2) of the statute specifically indicates that the expenditures must be made in the "election campaign." Part (3) sets out time deadlines for reporting focused on *election day*.

Federal courts have determined that RCW 42.17A.005(4)/RCW 42.17A.255(1) apply only to *electioneering*. Those statutes' "[d]isclosure requirements are triggered only if, *in a given election*, such an expenditure equals more than \$100 or if its value cannot reasonably be estimated." *Human Life of Washington, Inc. v. Brumsickle*, 624 F.3d 990, 998 (9th Cir. 2010), *cert. denied*, 562 U.S. 1217 (2011) (emphasis added).¹³ Thus, the

¹² Saucedo v. John Hancock Ins. Co., 185 Wn.2d 171, 180, 369 P.3d 150 (2016) ("We have no authority to read a new exception into the statute on policy grounds."). See also, Wash. Senate Republican Campaign Comm. v. Wash. Pub. Disclosure Comm'n, 141 Wn.2d 245, 280-81, 4 P.3d 808 (1997) (courts must not strain to interpret statute to save its constitutionality; rather, they must interpret statute reasonably and not imply language not found in the statute). The State essentially conceded in its brief at 25 that the Legislature did not enact the language it now asks this Court to insert into the statutes at issue. It suggests that "it is clear what the Legislature was trying to do..." Id.

P.3d ___, 2016 WL 1385200 (Colo. App. 2016), cert. granted, 2016 WL 4822062 (Colo. 2016) (funds spent by political organizations to defend campaign finance complaints did

Ninth Circuit concluded that reporting requirements are triggered only if an entity makes independent expenditures *during an election campaign*. In each of these three cities, there was never an election campaign.

The State contended below that courts should give great weight to the PDC's "position" on local ballot propositions, br. of appellant at 26-29, but this contention is flawed. First, apart from general pronouncements the State cites, it appears that the PDC has not issued any regulation, pertaining to RCW 42.17A.005(4)/RCW 42.17A.255(1). The State's reference to a PDC ruling on a recall action as somehow being relevant to this case, CP 54-57, is belied by a court decision barring enforcement of the RCW 42.17A contribution limits as to recall committees in *Farris v. Seabrook*, 677 F.3d 858 (9th Cir. 2012) (granting preliminary injunction invalidating \$800 statutory contribution limit in recall campaigns on First Amendment grounds). Further, the PDC's own reporting requirements

not constitute reportable spending as the funds were not expended to influence the election or appointment or candidates to electioneer).

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