FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/4/2018 4:05 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 95281-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

EVERGREEN FREEDOM FOUNDATION d/b/a FREEDOM FOUNDATION,

Petitioner.

STATE OF WASHINGTON'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

REBECCA GLASGOW, WSBA 32886 Deputy Solicitor General

LINDA A. DALTON, WSBA 15467 Senior Assistant Attorney General

CHAD C. STANDIFER, WSBA 29724 Assistant Attorney General

Office ID 91087 1125 Washington Street SE PO Box 40100 Olympia, WA 98504-0100 360-753-6200

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The State agrees that the interpretation of the Fair Campaign Practices Act is an issue of broad public import warranting this Court's attention and this Court should offer definitive guidance to sponsors and opponents of local initiatives. This Court should affirm the Court of Appeals analysis. The only reasonable interpretation of RCW 42.17A.005(4) and .255 is that *all* independent expenditures supporting or opposing local ballot propositions must be reported, and local initiatives become "ballot propositions" at the very least when they are filed. Adopting the Freedom Foundation's interpretation would create a loophole in the law eliminating transparency before a local ballot proposition is placed on the ballot, contrary to the people's and Legislature's intent. Even so, this case does not present a significant constitutional question. The Fair Campaign Practices Act is not void for vagueness and the Freedom Foundation misapplies the constitutional case law regarding disclosure requirements.

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded That the Fair Campaign Practices Act Requires Reporting of Independent Expenditures Supporting a Ballot Proposition, Beginning At Least When the Proposition is Filed with Local Officials

Where a court is charged with determining the meaning of a statute, its fundamental objective is to carry out the people's and the Legislature's intent, looking to the entire context of the statutory scheme, as well as the "general object to be accomplished and consequences that would result from" the parties' constructions. *E.g.*, *BAC Home Loans Servicing v. Fulbright*, 180 Wn.2d 754, 766, 328 P.3d 895 (2014) (internal quotation marks omitted). Here, the text, context, and history of RCW 42.17A show that the people and the Legislature intended reporting at the earliest stages of a local initiative campaign.

RCW 42.17A requires any "public or private corporation . . . or any other organization or group of persons, however organized" to timely file reports of "independent expenditures." RCW 42.17A.005(35), .255. "Independent expenditure," for purposes of RCW 42.17A.255, includes "any expenditure that is made in support of or in opposition to any . . . ballot proposition and is not otherwise required to be reported" RCW 42.17A.255(1) (emphasis added). Disclosure is triggered when expenditures amount to more than \$100. RCW 42.17A.255(2). Required disclosures include an initial report, followed by periodic updates if expenditures continue, as well as three required updates at specific stages of the election season. RCW 42.17A.255(2), (3), (5); see also Human Life of Wash., Inc. v. Brumsickle, 624 F.3d 990, 998-99 (9th Cir. 2010). Organizations like the Freedom Foundation must file timely reports of the value of their expenditures supporting any "ballot proposition."

1. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected the argument that a "campaign" encompasses only "electioneering"

The Freedom Foundation contends that the independent expenditure reporting obligation arises only "during an election campaign" under RCW 42.17A.255(2), and the concept of an "election campaign" is limited to "electioneering" activities, not litigation. The Court of Appeals correctly rejected this argument.

The people and the Legislature said that *any* expenditure must be reported, not just expenditures related to electioneering or communications with voters once a proposition has been placed on the ballot. RCW 42.17A.255(1) ("'[I]ndependent expenditure' means any expenditure that is made in support of or in opposition to any candidate or ballot proposition and is not otherwise required to be reported " (Emphases added.)). Where the Legislature intended to limit disclosure to "electioneering" or "advertising," within RCW 42.17A, it used those more limited words, which are specifically defined in the RCW 42.17A.005(19) (defining "electioneering" to mean a broadcast, transmission, mailing, billboard, newspaper, or periodical about a candidate), (36) (defining "political advertising" to mean any mass communication for the purpose of appealing for votes or for other support or opposition). Neither the term "electioneering" nor "political advertising" appears in RCW 42.17A.255.

Moreover, there is a separate reporting requirement for expenditures for electioneering communications. *E.g.*, RCW 42.17A.005(19), .305, .335. The law also separately sets out required reporting for "political advertising," including mail and voice communications with voters in the form of brochures and letters. RCW 42.17A.260, .005(36). Had the people and the Legislature intended what the Freedom Foundation claims, (1) they would not have needed to include the independent expenditure requirement at all because reporting for electioneering communications and political advertising are already covered in other provisions of the Act, or (2) they would have used the terms "electioneering" and/or "political advertising" in RCW 42.17A.255(1).

While the Freedom Foundation relies on the term "election

campaign" in RCW 42.17A.255(2) to support its theory, that term is defined in RCW 42.17A.005(17) to include "any campaign in support of, or in opposition to, a ballot proposition." The Freedom Foundation's legal services were rendered "in support of" local initiatives—they litigated to force the initiatives onto the ballot. If the people and the Legislature intended "campaign" to encompass only convincing voters to vote for or against a proposition, they would not have expressly incorporated initiatives that are "proposed to be submitted to the voters" within the coverage of "ballot proposition." RCW 42.17A.005(4). This portion of the definition of "ballot proposition" would be rendered meaningless if the Act applied only to electioneering communications about an initiative that is on the ballot. The Freedom Foundation's insistence that a "campaign" only encompasses communications with voters once a proposition is on the ballot ignores the plain language of RCW 42.17A.005(4) and .255.

The Freedom Foundation also suggests that litigation services cannot be independent expenditures in support of a ballot proposition. Pet. for Review at 10-11. But litigation is now a tactic in ballot proposition campaigns. A legal challenge is an arrow in the quiver of opponents seeking to defeat a ballot proposition, whether successful or not, and litigation is now a common means of blocking adoption of an initiative or forcing an initiative onto the ballot. *E.g.*, *Huff v. Wyman*, 184 Wn.2d 643, 361 P.3d 727 (2015) (litigation brought by two county election officials and opponents over whether a statewide initiative could be placed on the ballot); *Filo Foods*, *LLC v. City of SeaTac*, 179 Wn. App. 401, 319 P.3d 817 (2014)

(litigation over whether a local minimum wage initiative received enough valid signatures to qualify for the ballot).

In 2017 alone, there were two significant pieces of litigation about local initiative—a Spokane initiative regarding sanctuary status/immigration and a Seattle initiative regarding safe injection sites. The incontestable purpose of such litigation efforts was to support or oppose the ballot propositions by forcing them onto or blocking them from the ballot. To read the statute as the Freedom Foundation suggests would undermine the plain purpose of campaign finance law, which is to give the public access to information about who is bankrolling efforts to support or defeat initiatives. RCW 42.17A.001.

The Freedom Foundation relies on four words in *Human Life of Washington, Inc. v. Brumsickle*, 624 F.3d 990, 998 (9th Cir. 2010), "in a given election," to establish that RCW 42.17A.255's reporting requirements apply only to electioneering. Pet. for Review at 11. But the Ninth Circuit did not directly address in *Human Life of Washington, Inc.* whether litigation expenses are independent expenditures that support or oppose a ballot proposition. The issue presented in that case was framed in terms of communications with voters and nothing in the opinion suggests that the Ninth Circuit intended to excuse the reporting of independent expenditures for anything else. Instead, the Court of Appeals reasoning in this case is consistent with the Fair Campaign Practices Act's plain language, purpose,

and context.3

2. The Court of Appeals also correctly applied the definition of "ballot proposition"

The Freedom Foundation also asserts that a local initiative can never become a "ballot proposition" until it is placed on the ballot, but the Court of Appeals correctly rejected this argument as well. The Legislature defined "ballot proposition" broadly to include, at the very least, a local initiative that has been initially filed with local officials, and arguably when signature gathering has begun. RCW 42.17A.005(4).

The definition has two prongs. The first incorporates "any proposition or question submitted to the voters." RCW 29A.04.091 (defining "measure"). The second prong incorporates additional propositions: those "proposed to be submitted to the voters," including voters of "any municipal corporation, political subdivision, or other voting constituency" "from and after the time when the proposition has been initially filed with the appropriate election officer of that constituency before its circulation for signatures." RCW 42.17A.005(4). As the Court of Appeals concluded, at the very least under the plain language of the second prong, a local initiative becomes a "ballot proposition" once it is initially filed with local officials. RCW 42.17A.005(4) ("from and after the time when the proposition has been initially filed with the appropriate election

³ The Freedom Foundation also refers to cases involving contribution limits as applied to pro bono services. Pet. for Review at 12-13, 19; *Farris v. Seabrook*, 677 F.3d 858 (9th Cir. 2012). But the law applicable to contribution limits is different. Limits create a cap on available funds for expenditures. Here, there is no cap that would limit the extent of legal services that can be provided without charge—there is only a reporting requirement.

officer of that constituency").

Here, the local initiatives were filed with county auditors and clerks for signature checking, and then the local legislative bodies declined to put the initiatives on the ballot. CP at 74-75, 79-81, 85-86. Thus, the Freedom Foundation provided pro bono legal services after the local initiatives were "initially filed" with local officials for processing. RCW 42.17A.005(4). While the Freedom Foundation insists that because signatures were already gathered, the second prong of the definition cannot apply in these circumstances, or in any circumstances where a local initiative is filed after signature gathering, that ignores the second prong's express application to local initiatives. The Court of Appeals was correct.

While the Court of Appeals declined to further address the issue, if this Court were to accept review, it should alternatively recognize that the second prong's plain language contemplates both that it applies to local initiatives once filed *and* that local initiatives become "ballot propositions" "before [the initiative's] circulation for signatures." RCW 42.17A.005(4). The language about initially filing with officials would not be surplusage because it would continue to apply in the context of statewide initiatives. Even so, this Court has recognized that it can ignore surplusage in some contexts. *Wash. Water Power Co. v. Graybar Elec. Co.*, 112 Wn.2d 847, 859, 774 P.2d 1199 (1989). And this Court has explained that "surplusage in a statute may be ignored in order to subserve legislative intent." *Id.* (citing 2A Norman Singer, *Statutory Construction* § 47.37 (4th ed. 1984)).

It is the most consistent with the people's statement of intent and the

legislative history to apply disclosure requirements to independent expenditures related to signature gathering for local initiatives. First, the people provided that the campaign disclosure statutes "shall be liberally construed to promote complete disclosure of all information respecting the financing of political campaigns [including support of or opposition to a ballot proposition] . . . so as to assure continuing public confidence of fairness of elections and governmental processes, and so as to assure that the public interest will be fully protected." RCW 42.17A.001, .005(17). This liberal construction rule, along with the statement of the people's purpose to require full disclosure to promote public confidence, is included in the plain reading of the statute. *G-P Gypsum Corp. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 169 Wn.2d 304, 310, 237 P.3d 256 (2010); RCW 42.17A.001.

Second, the legislative history, in particular a 1975 amendment, indicates the Legislature clarified the language of the definition of "ballot proposition" in order to solve a problem. H.B. Analysis of Substitute H.B. 827, at 1, 44th Leg., 1st Ex. Sess. (Wash. Mar. 24, 1975). The prior language was potentially unclear as to when a *proposed* initiative triggered reporting requirements. *Id.* The bill analysis for the amendment confirms the Legislature's intent to cover proposed local initiatives, at the very least after the filing with local officials, but also "prior to circulation for signatures on petitions to place such measures on the ballot." *Id.* "[S]uch measures" included "measures which are proposed to be submitted to the voters of the state or any municipal corporation, political subdivision, or any other voting constituency." H.B. Analysis of Substitute H.B. 827, at 1, 44th Leg., 1st Ex.

Sess. (Wash. Mar. 24, 1975). Interpreting the definition of "ballot proposition" to exclude disclosure of expenditures incurred during signature gathering would be contrary to this plain intent.

In sum, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the local initiatives at issue here became "ballot propositions" when they were filed with local officials, before the Freedom Foundation expended its attorney resources to support the propositions by litigating to get them on the ballot. But under the definition of "ballot proposition," reporting is triggered even earlier, "before its circulation for signatures." RCW 42.17A.005(4). This is especially important given that cities have become proving grounds for ballot propositions in Washington, as initiatives on topics from the minimum wage to campaign finance reform have been presented to local voters before they take the statewide stage. Understanding who supports a local ballot proposition at its earliest stages provides the public with insight into which interests most strongly support a measure. To read the statute as the Freedom Foundation suggests would undermine the plain purpose of the statute—to give the public access to information about who is bankrolling efforts to get an initiative on the ballot or keep it off. RCW 42.17A.001.

These statutory interpretation issues are ones of substantial public interest. While the Court of Appeals decided them correctly in a well-reasoned decision, this Court should take the opportunity to clarify that the reporting obligation arises before filing for local initiatives, "before . . . circulation for signatures." This would ensure compliance with the people's and the Legislature's intent to require reporting at all stages.

B. This Case Raises No Significant Constitutional Question Because the Fair Campaign Practices Act Is Not Vague

The Freedom Foundation's vagueness argument does not raise a significant constitutional question because resolution involves a straightforward application of vagueness standards.

A party asserting that a statute is void for vagueness must prove unconstitutionality beyond a reasonable doubt. *Voters Educ. Comm. v. Wash. Pub. Disclosure Comm'n*, 161 Wn.2d 470, 488, 166 P.3d 1174 (2007). As the Court of Appeals explained, a statute is not void for vagueness "'simply because it could have been drafted with greater precision.'" *State v. Evergreen Freedom Found.*, No. 50224-1-II, slip op. (unpublished portion) at 23, http://www.courts.wa.gov/opinions/pdf /D2%2050224-1-II%20Published%20Opinion.pdf. (quoting *Am. Legion Post 149 v. Dep't of Health*, 164 Wn.2d 570, 613, 192 P.3d 306 (2008)). A statute is sufficiently clear when it provides explicit standards and a person of ordinary intelligence can have a reasonable opportunity to know what is required to be prohibited. *Id*.

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